### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Case Number: 72,763
Fourth District No. 4-86-2663

SAMARA DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION,

Petitioner,

vs.

RICHARD MARLOW and MIDATLANTIC NATIONAL BANK AND TRUST COMPANY,

Respondents.

AUG 17 1988

Deputy Clerk

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF FOR PETITIONER

Sherr, Tiballi, Fayne & Schneider
Attorney for Petitioner
600 Corporate Drive
Suite 400
Post Office Box 9208
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33310
(305) 776-1680

y: Kathy Kaplan, Esquire FLA BAR NO: 0507751

8/10/88

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this Brief, R. shall refer to the record on appeal. shall refer to this Brief's Appendix. SAMARA, a Florida real estate developer, shall refer to the petitioner. MARLOW, natural person who entered into a contract for the sale of a condominium unit with SAMARA, shall refer to the respondent. Midlantic National Bank and Trust Company is a respondent to this brief because it was a party to the instant lawsuit and the appeal. However, this party, the escrow holder, is not addressed in this Brief in that it stipulated in the trial court to be bound by any binding decision and further chose not to actively participate further in this lawsuit. ILSA or the ACT shall refer to the Interstate Land Sales Full Disclosure Act, 15 U.S.C. 51701, et, seg, (1982). HUD shall refer to the Department of Housing and Urban Development, the agency to which Congress, at 51715, (1982) specifically delegated the authority 15 U.S.C. and responsibility for administrating ILSA. OILSR shall refer to the Office of Interstate Land Sales Regulation, an office of HUD. The 1979 HUD Guidelines shall refer to Guidelines for Exemptions Available Under the Interstate Land Sales Full Disclosure Act, 44 Reg. 24,010 (1979), effective June 11, 1979. Guidelines, in pertinent part, address HUD's regulations contained at 24 C.F.R. 51710. 5(b) (1987) which describe the breadth, scope and requirements of 15 U.S.C. §1702(a) (2) (1982). The 1984 HUD Guidelines shall refer to Guidelines for Exemptions Available

Under the Interstate Land Sales Full Disclosure Act, 49 Fed. Reg. 31,375 (1984) which, in pertinent part, also address 15 U.S.C. §1702(a)(2) (1982). Finally, Advisory Opinion(s) shall refer to opinion letters issued by HUD regarding 15 U.S.C. §1702(a)(2) (1982) pursuant to the authority contained within 24 C.F.R. §1710.17 (1987).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This cause comes before the Supreme Court of Florida upon a Notice to Invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of the Court following an appellate decision rendered by the Fourth District Court of Appeal which certified the following question as one of great public importance:

IS A CONTRACT FOR THE SALE OF A CONDOMINIUM IN FLORIDA EXEMPT FROM THE PROVISIONS OF THE INTERSTATE LAND SALES FULL DISCLOSURE ACT, 15 USC §1701, WHERE IT PROVIDES FOR COMPLETION WITHIN TWO YEARS BUT RESTRICTS THE BUYER'S REMEDIES FOR BREACH OF THE CONTRACT BY THE SELLERS TO A RETURN OF THE DEPOSIT OR SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE, OR MUST THE CONTRACT ALSO AFFORD THE BUYER THE ALTERNATIVE REMEDY OF A SUIT FOR DAMAGES?

(A. 1-8).

Based upon the doctrine of stare decisis, the Fourth District Court of Appeal found that while SAMARA's position that it is exempt from ILSA in that its contract provides the remedy of specific performance in the event of a breach of its two (2) year construction obligation is contrary to the Fourth District Court of Appeal's ruling in a prior case. Nonetheless, the question was certified due to a recognition by the Fourth District Court of Appeal a conflict exists between the holding in its prior case regarding the interpretation of Section 1702(a) (2) of ILSA, a federal statute, and the interpretation contained in the 1979 through 1982 administrative guidelines and opinion letters issued by HUD, the federal agency empowered by Congress to administer ILSA. Because pursuant to Florida law,

the interpretations given by HUD are entitled to great weight and are not to be departed from unless clearly erroneous, and this issue was raised but not addressed in the opinion in the prior case, the Fourth District Court of Appeal certified the question.

MARLOW is the Plaintiff in a Complaint filed in the Circuit Court for the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Palm Beach County, Florida, Case No. 85-4985 CA (L) Η. (R. 1-15). MARLOW filed an Amended Complaint and a Second Amended Complaint wherein SAMARA and MIDLANTIC NATIONAL BANK AND TRUST COMPANY were named as Defendants together with SUN BANK/PALM BEACH COUNTY, 16-32, 68-35). SUN BANK/PALM BEACH COUNTY, N.A. was N.A. later dropped as a Defendant pursuant to stipulation. (R. 196). SAMARA filed a counterclaim which was subsequently Amended. (R. 37-67 and 86).

SAMARA and MARLOW entered into a Condominium Purchase Agreement on or about November 22, 1983 for the Purchase and Sale of a Condominium Unit at La Mirada at Boca Pointe, a Condominium developed by SAMARA in Boca Raton, Palm Beach County, Florida. 210-212). A copy of the Condominium Purchase Agreement is (R. attached to MARLOW's Complaint, Amended Complaint, Amended Complaint and SAMARA's Counterclaim. (R. 1-15, 16-32, 37-67 and 68-85). MARLOW paid to SAMARA a deposit in the amount of TEN THOUSAND NINE HUNDRED FORTY (\$10,940.00) DOLLARS for the purchase of the Condominium Unit. (R. 68-85, 210-212). alleged in Count II that because SAMARA was in violation of ILSA, MARLOW was entitled to rescission of the contract as well as

other remedies for violating ILSA as contained within Section 1709 of the ACT. (R. 1-15, 16-32, 68-85, 87-89, 158, 243-248). SAMARA maintained it was exempt from the requirements of ILSA pursuant to Section 1702(a)(2) of the ACT. (R. 33, 37-67, 86, 156-157, 193-194).

The trial court originally determined in its Order on SAMARA's Motion to Dismiss Count II of the Second Amended Complaint that SAMARA did not qualify for an exemption from ILSA pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1702(a)(2). (R. 97-98). SAMARA filed a Motion for Reconsideration with accompanying affidavits and authority, which Motion was denied. (R. 100-122, 154-155). MARLOW filed a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. The trial court below stated in the Order on MARLOW's Motion for Judgment on the pleadings that it may have been incorrect in ruling on SAMARA's Motion to Dismiss (R. 197). Both SAMARA and MARLOW each filed a Motion for Summary Judgment as to Count II of MARLOW's Second Amended Complaint based solely upon the question of whether SAMARA was exempt.

The Order on Motions for Summary Judgment denied MARLOW's Motion for Summary Judgment on Count II of MARLOW's Second Amended Complaint and granted that SAMARA's Motion for Summary Judgment on Count II of MARLOW's Second Amended Complaint based upon a finding that SAMARA was exempt from ILSA pursuant to Section 1702(a) (2) of the ACT because its contract with MARLOW obligated SAMARA to complete construction within two (2) years and allowed MARLOW to seek the return of his deposit or specific

performance in the event of **SAMARA's** breach. (R. 222-225).

MARLOW filed a Motion for Rehearing which was denied. (R. 226-231). MARLOW filed a timely Notice of Appeal which was subsequently amended (R. 240, 242).

The issue on appeal was, once again, whether SAMARA was exempt from the requirements of the Interstate Land Sales Full Disclosure Act (15 U.S.C. §1701, et seq) pursuant to 15 §1702 (a)(2). On appeal, the Fourth District Court of Appeal found the instant case controlled by precedent announced in a prior case which held that in order to qualify for the 1702(a)(2) exemption, the Contract for Sale must obligate the Seller to complete construction within a period of two (2) years and allow the Purchaser to seek specific performance and damages in the Because the contract in the instant case event of a breach. allows the purchaser to seek specific performance but not damages, the Fourth District Court of Appeal found based upon the doctrine of stare decisis, that SAMARA was not exempt from the requirements of ILSA. (A. 1-6).

SAMARA, claiming the exemption pursuant to Section 1702(a)(2), relied on administrative guidelines and opinions issued from 1979 through 1982 by HUD, the agency empowered to enforce ILSA, which unequivocally state that a developer is exempt under that Section if the Contract obligates the developer to complete the unit within two (2) years of the contract and allows the Purchaser specific performance in the event of a breach. The administrative guidelines and opinions were raised

in the briefs in the prior case but were not addressed in the opinion of the prior case. Because SAMARA's contract provides the remedy of specific performance but disallows a claim for damages, and in light of the great weight to be afforded HUD's interpretations pursuant to Florida law, the Fourth District Court of Appeal followed the precedent established in its prior case but certified the instant question as one of great public importance.

The opinion by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in the instant case was rendered on June 15, 1988 and provided that the decision was not final until the time expired to file a Rehearing Motion and, if filed, disposed of. (A. 1). Subsequently, MARLOW filed a Motion for Rehearing or Clarification. Because a Motion for Rehearing tolls the finality of the Judgment Rendered but a Motion for Clarification does not, SAMARA filed its Notice to Invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court on July 15, 1988 to protect against the consequences which would result if the Fourth District Court of Appeal deemed the Motion as one for clarification only. Pursuant to MARLOW's Motion for Rehearing on Clarification, the Order on Appeal was subsequently amended. (A. 7).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 1702(a)(2) of ILSA provides for an exemption from the requirements of ILSA for the sale of land under a contract obligating the Seller to erect a building thereon within a period of two (2) years. HUD, the federal agency charged by Congress with the administration of ILSA, and pursuant to the authority given it by Congress, promulgated a regulation regarding Section 1702(a)(2) which appears at **24** C.F.R. §1710, 5(b) (1988). 1979 HUD has also issued Guidelines regarding this exemption which developers and practitioners have relied on in order to take advantage of this exemption provision. HUD has interpreted the exemption provision of Section 1702(a)(2) to require a contract which contains a contractual obligation to complete the building within two (2) years and, in the event of a breach of this obligation, the remedy of specific performance to the purchaser. To be contractually obligated to build within two (2) years, and therefore exempt from ILSA, has never been interpreted by HUD to require the developer to also afford a purchaser the remedy of damages in the event of a breach.

Florida and Federal law provide that the rules and regulations of an administrative agency made under power conferred by statute have the force and effect of the statute, if they are within the scope and intent of authority conferred, and if they are reasonable and just and in accordance with applicable organic provisions and limitations. The courts are to

afford great deference to the interpretations of a federal statute by the agency charged with administration of the statute, and, if its interpretation is reasonable, it should be upheld even if the agency's interpretation is not the only reasonable one or even the one the court would have reached had it decided the question initially.

The regulations, advisory opinions and Guidelines issued by HUD over the course of nine (9) years clearly provide that HUD's interpretation of Section 1702(a)(2) is that a developer is exempt from the ACT when the developer is contractually obligated to complete within two (2) years and affords the Purchaser the remedy of specific performance in the event of a breach. These regulations, advisory opinions and Guidelines are within the scope and intent of the authority conferred on HUD by Congress, and they are reasonable and just and in accordance with applicable organic provisions and limitations and therefore should be controlling.

No Florida cases dealing with this exemption have ever addressed HUD's interpretation of this exemption in their decisions. Moreover, Florida law, as expressed in Berzon v. Oriole Homes Corp. 497 So.2d 670 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), is in direct conflict with the interpretations given Section 1702(a)(2) by HUD. Berzon provides that a developer may not claim an exemption under the ACT when damages for violation of a two (2) year construction provision are limited to the return of the deposit or specific performance. According to Berzon, the remedy

of damages for breach of contract must also be afforded the purchaser in order to entitle the developer to an exemption. Although the briefs on appeal in <u>Berzon</u> raised the issue of HUD's interpretation of this exemption, the Fourth District Court of Appeal failed to address this issue in its opinion. Nonetheless, the court decided the instant case based upon the precedent established in <u>Berzon</u>.

In light of HUD's interpretation of the ILSA exemption provision at issue, and the weight to be accorded HUD's interpretations, SAMARA should be exempt from the Act in that its contract meets HUD's requirements for exemption. The SAMARA contract expressly provides for completion within two (2) years, and it affords the purchaser the remedy of specific performance in the event of a breach of the contractual obligation to complete within two (2) years. On this basis, SAMARA maintains that Berzon should be revisited and overruled, the Fourth District Court of Appeal should be reversed on its opinion in the instant case, and the opinion of the trial court in the instant case affirmed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. ACCORDING TO HUD'S INTERPRETATION OF 15 U.S.C. 51702(a)(2 (19 2), WHICH INTERPRETATION IS ENTITLED TO GREAT WEIGHT BY THIS COURT, A DEVELOPER IS EXEMPT FROM THE REQUIREMENTS OF ILSA IF THE CONTRACT PROVIDES FOR COMPLETION WITHIN TWO (2) YEARS AND THE BUYER IS AFFORDED THE REMEDY OF SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE IN THE EVENT OF THE DEVELOPER'S BREACH.

In 1968, Congress passed ILSA. The purpose of ILSA is to offer protection for consumers against fraudulent real estate sales operations. The ACT is administered by HUD. The ACT is a full disclosure law which requires Sellers to register their real estate developments with the Federal Government and to disclose to prospective buyers pertinent facts about the land offered for sale. Not all promotional land sales, however, are covered by the ACT. United States Department of Housing and Urban Development, <u>Buying Lots from Developers</u> 3, 11 (1982). (A. 72-84). The ACT provides several exemptions from its requirements. One of those exemptions, which appears in Section 1702(a) (2) of the ACT, is the subject of this appeal.

Congress, in Section 1715 of the Act delegated to HUD, and to its boards, the authority and responsibility to administer ILSA. Pursuant to that authority, HUD has promulgated regulations, guidelines and advisory opinions concerning the breadth, scope and requirements of Section 1702(a) (2) of the Act which have guided the industry since 1979. The HUD regulations describing Section 1702(a) (2) appear in the Code of Federal Regulations. 24 C.F.R. 1710.5(b) (1987). (A. 53). HUD's

advisory opinions were issued pursuant to the authority contained within the Code of Federal Regulations. 24 C.F.R. 51710.17 (1987). (A.54). Finally, HUD's Guidelines were issued in 1979 and 1984 and explain HUD's regulations. These Guidelines appear in the Federal Regulations. Guidelines for Exemptions Available Under the Interstate Land Sales Full Disclosure Act, 44 Fed. Reg. 24, 010 (1979), 49 Fed. Reg. 31,375 (1984). (A. 9021, 35-48).

Section 1702(a)(2) of the ACT provides for an exemption from the requirements of ILSA in those instances when the sale of land is under a contract which obligates a seller to erect a building on the land within two (2) years. HUD in its Guidelines and Advisory Opinions has interpreted the exemption provisions contained in Section 1702(a)(2) to mean that as long as the contract for sale expressly obligates the Seller to complete a Purchaser's unit within two (2) years of the signing of the contract, and the contract does not limit the Purchaser's right to specific performance in the event of a breach, then the Seller is exempt from the requirements of ILSA.

This Court has recognized that interpretations of a statute by the agency empowered to enforce that statute are entitled to great weight and will not be departed from unless clearly erroneous. Daniel v. Florida State Turnpike Authority, 213 So.2d 585, 587 (Fla. 1968). See also King v. Seaman, 59 So.2d 859, 861 (Fla. 1952). The Supreme Court of Florida has always been reluctant to disagree with an administrative body in its interpretation of the statute which the body has a duty to

administer. Radio Telephone Communications, Inc. v. Southeastern Telegraph Company, 170 So.2d 577, 582 (Fla. 1964).

The United States Supreme Court has likewise held that a federal agency's interpretation of a federal statute is entitled to great deference and should likely be sustained. Mfrs. Assin, v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc., 470 U.S. 116, 126, 105 S. Ct. 1102, 1107, 84 L.Ed.2d 90, 98 (1985); Ford Motor Credit Co. v. Milhollin, 444 U.S. 555, 565-67, 100 S.Ct. 790, 796-97, 63 L.Ed.2d 22, 31-32 (1980); Miller v. Youakim, 440 U.S. 125, 144, 99 s.ct, 957, 968-69, 59 L.Ed.2d 194, 208 (1979). Moreover, when HUD has specifically been entrusted with the execution of a particular federal statute, as is true with ILSA, HUD's interpretations have been entitled to great deference. Fleetwood Enterprises, Inc. v. United States Department of Housing & Urban Development, 818 F.2d 1188, 1194 (5th Cir.1987) (HUD's interpretation of National Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety Standards Act); United Neighbors Civic Ass'n. of Jamaica, Inc. v. Pierce, 563 F. Supp. (E.D.N.Y. 1983) (HUD's interpretation of National Environmental Policy Act of 1969).

The deference to be given to HUD's Guidelines pertaining to ILSA has been addressed by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. In Winter v. Hollingsworth Properties, Inc., 587 F. Supp. 1289 (S.D. Fla. 1984), rev'd, 777 F.2d 1444 (11th Cir. 1985), the federal district court was faced with the issue of HUD's interpretation of the ILSA provisions as they pertain to Florida

condominium units. In Guidelines promulgated by OILSR, HUD interpreted the ILSA provisions to be applicable to condominium units. Id. at 1291. The district court, however, refused to follow these Guidelines. Id. at 1294. The Eleventh Circuit, in reversing the district court and upholding the Guidelines, stated:

The courts afford great deference to the interpretation of a federal statute by the agency charged with administration of the statutory scheme. EPA v. National Crushed Stone Ass'n, 449 U.S. 64, 83, 101 S.Ct. 295, 307, 66 L.Ed.2d 268 (1980). The agency's interpretation need not be the only reasonable one or even the one that we would reach had we decided the question initially; if the agency's interpretation is reasonable, it will be upheld. American Paper Institute v. American Electric Power Service Corp., 461 U.S. 402, 422-23, 103 S.Ct. 1921, 1933, 76 L.Ed.2d 22 (1983).

#### 777 F.2d at 1448.

HUD's interpretation of Section 1702(a)(2) of the ACT, contained within its regulations, Guidelines and advisory opinions, is not clearly erroneous or unreasonable. HUD's position is the result of a carefully reasoned analysis which is revealed in its 1979 and 1984 Guidelines, and in its advisory opinions.

In 1979 HUD issued Guidelines pertaining to determining the applicability of exemptions from the ACT. These Guidelines became effective June 11, 1979. <u>Guidelines for Exemptions Available Under the Interstate Land and Sales Full Disclosure Act</u>, 44 Fed. Reg. 24010 (1979). (A. 9-21). The first paragraph of these Guidelines sets forth in part:

These guidelines are intended to provide information concerning the requirements for statutory and regulatory exemptions available to developers which are contained in the rules and regulations (24 CFR 1710.10 through 1710.18) issued pursuant to the Interstate Land Sales Full Disclosure Act. The guidelines contain agency positions, interpretations and descriptions of the individual element at eligibility criteria for each exemption.

Part III, subsection (c) of these Guidelines addresses the exemption here at issue by stating, in pertinent part:

If you (the Developer or Seller) are relying on this exemption and the residential, commercial, condominium or industrial building is not complete, the contract must specifically obligate you, the <u>Seller</u> to complete such a building within two (2) years, otherwise the sale is not exempt. The two-year period begins on the date the Purchaser signs the sales contract. The use of a contract that obligates the <u>Buyer</u> to build within two (2) years would not exempt the sale.

Furthermore, any conditions which qualify the obligation to complete a building within two (2) years nullify the applicability of the exemption. <u>Likewise</u>. any Provision which restricts the Purchaser's remedy of specific Performance serves to nullify the construction obligation and disqualifies the transaction for the exemption. [Emphasis added].

However, contract provisions which provide for delays of construction completion dates beyond the two-year period are acceptable if such delays are legally supportable in the jurisdiction where the building is being erected as an impossibility of performance for reasons beyond the control of the Developer. Provisions to allow time extensions for such things as acts of God or material shortages are generally permissible.

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