IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Case Number: 72,763
Fourth District No. 4-86-2663

SAMARA DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION,

Petitioner,

VS.

RICHARD MARLOW and MIDLANTIC NATIONAL BANK AND TRUST COMPANY,

Respondents.

SEP 19 1988

DIERK, SUPREME COURT

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ANSWER BRIEF FOR RESPONDENT, RICHARD MARLOW

GLENN M. MEDNICK, ESQ. FLORIDA BAR #284742
GUTKIN, MILLER, SHAPIRO & SELESNER
1300 N. Federal Highway
Suite 107
Boca Raton, Florida 33432
(407) 392-1405

Attorneys for Respondent, RICHARD MARLOW

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The case <u>sub judice</u> is before this Honorable Court on Petitioner's Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction to review a question certified by the Fourth District Court of Appeals to be of great public importance. The analysis herein as a result thereof is whether the necessary remedies have been afforded to Respondent pursuant to the instant Condominium Purchase Agreement to qualify for the improved lot exemption to ILSA.

The Petitioner is not eligible for the statutory exemption contained in 15 U.S.C. §1702 (a)(2) as the Condominium Purchase Agreement limited the remedies available to Respondent. Specifically, the Condominium Purchase Agreement disclaimed any liability to the Respondent for damages. Moreover, the Condominium Purchase Agreement limits the Respondent's remedies in the event that the condominium unit is not completed within two (2) years to a refund of Respondent's deposit plus interest.

Petitioner argues based upon the 1979 and 1984 HUD Guidelines together with Advisory Opinions issued by OILSR that the only remedy which must be afforded to a purchaser to qualify for the improved lot exemption is the remedy of specific per-

formance. Accordingly, Petitioner asserts that the Opinion rendered by the Fourth District Court of Appeals conflicts with the HUD interpretation which, unless clearly erroneous, controlling. However, the HUD Guidelines relied upon Petitioner are not by their own terms substantive regulations. The Guidelines further state that the examples given do not exhaust the myriad of possibilities occurring in land development. Courts are the final authorities of statutory construction and in the absence of a clear statement of Congressional intent will only defer to an agency's interpretation when it has a reasonable basis in law. The 1979 Guidelines and Guidelines, which Petitioner asserts conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeals Opinion herein, do not contain such a reasonable basis in law. They do not contain a thorough analysis or a scintilla of the reasoning for limiting the remedies which must be afforded to qualify for the exemption to specific perfor-Such an interpretation would conflict with the underlying policy and legislative history of ILSA. Moreover, this interpretation conflicts with previous agency pronouncements upon the Respondent would speculate that the reference to the subject. remedy of specific performance was offered by way of example and not limitation. The Advisory Opinions similiarly relied upon by Petitioner lack power to persuade as they do not have a reasonable basis in law. Moreover, the opinions relied upon by Petitioner should be disregarded as they conflict with other staff opinions requiring the remedy of damages.

The Opinion rendered by the Fourth District Court of Appeals does not conflict with HUD's most recent pronouncement of the improved lot exemption. HUD by virtue of the 1984 Guidelines defers to state law in deciding whether or not the seller has an obligation to erect a building within two years. Florida both in terms of cases which have construed the statutory exemption at issue here and those decided under principals of contract law require that the purchaser be afforded the remedy of damages. The case of Dorchester Development, Inc. v. Burk, and its progeny have established that any limitation on the contractual remedies available to a purchaser is fatal to the exemption. This principal has been espoused in an unbroken line of cases since Dorchester and the Opinion from which the Petitioner filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction merely constitutes the most recent pronouncement on the subject. Moreover, the current trend of Florida contract law requires that a purchaser be afforded the remedy of damages in order to prevent the seller's obligations from being wholly illusory. To find that a seller need only provide a right of specific performance would permit the seller with impunity to sell the same unit the

following day. The necessity to include the remedy of damages to form a binding obligation upon the seller comports with the general purpose of ILSA and it should be liberally interpreted to attain that end. Advisory Opinions promulgated by OILSR both prior and subsequent to the 1984 Guidelines affirm the principal that the remedy of damages must be afforded to the purchaser so as not to disqualify the contract for the improved lot exemption.

Petitioner's assertion that public policy dictates that the public rely on the interpretation given to the exemption by HUD erroneously assumes that such interpretation conflicts with the Opinion rendered herein by the Fourth District Court of Appeals. Assuming arguendo a conflict does exist, Dorchester Development v. Burk was the precursor to the instant Opinion and clearly prohibited a limitation of remedies in order to qualify a developer for the exemption. Real estate practitioners have advocated that contractual remedies clauses be amended in response thereto or, in lieu thereof, that a developer register project under ILSA. Practitioners could not Dorchester's mandate without placing their clients in jeopardy of running afoul of the exemption. Whichever course of conduct a developer chose to follow, he would negate the purchaser's ability to rescind under ILSA and thereby preserve the developers contractual rights. Moreover, the 1979 Guidelines and 1984 Guidelines, upon which Petitioner would seek to rely to the exclusion of <u>Dorchester Development</u>, <u>Inc. v. Burk</u> and its progeny, contain caveats as to reliance thereupon.

Aside from the necessity to include the remedy of damages to be eligible for the improved lot exemption, the remedy of specific performance was contractually limited or negated in Paragraph VI.A of the Condominium Purchase Agreement. The limitation contained in the foregoing paragraph conflicts with the language contained in an earlier paragraph which purports to afford the purchaser the right of specific performance. The provisions are mutually repugnant and cannot be interpreted so as to reconcile this repugnancy. Based on this repugnancy, a limitation of the remedy of specific performance exists and this limitation disqualifies the Petitioner from the improved lot exemption.

Because the remedy of specific performance has been limited or negated by subsequent provisions of the Condominium Purchase Agreement and, or in lieu thereof, since a contractual limitation of the right of damages is contained in the Condominium Purchase Agreement, Petitioner is not entitled to claim the benefit of the exemption to ILSA which appears in 15 U.S.C. §1702 (a)(2). Consequently, Petitioner was required to comply with the terms and provisions of ILSA including the

disclosure requirements. Petitioner's failure to comply with the disclosure provisions entitles Respondent to rescind the Condominium Purchase Agreement and to recover in damages his deposit, interest, court costs and a reasonable amount for attorneys' fees. Therefore, this Honorable Court should refuse to exercise discretionary jurisdiction herein, but, in the event that it elects to exercise same, it should affirm the Opinion rendered by the Fourth District Court of Appeals.

ARGUMENT

I. HUD'S INTERPRETATION OF 15 U.S.C. 51702 (a)(2)
IS NOT BINDING AS COURTS ARE THE FINAL AUTHORITIES
ON ISSUES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION AND WHILE THE
CONSTRUCTION PUT ON A STATUTE BY THE AGENCY CHARGED
WITH ADMINISTRATING IT IS ENTITLED TO DEFERENCE
BY THE COURTS IT SHOULD NOT BE ADOPTED HEREIN AS IT
DOES NOT HAVE A REASONABLE BASIS IN LAW AND THEREBY
LACKS POWER TO PERSUADE.

As acknowledged by Petitioner in its opening paragraph of Argument I, the purpose of ILSA is to offer protection for consumers against fraudulent real estate sales operations. Respondent acknowledges that in 15 U.S.C. 51715 the authority for administrating ILSA was delegated to the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development who pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 51718 had authority to issue rules and regulations "as are necessary or appropriate to the exercise of the functions and powers conferred upon him..." However, it is not rules and regulations which Petitioner asserts are binding upon this Court and determinative of the issue before it. Instead Petitioner asserts that it is mere Guidelines promulgated by HUD and Advisory Opinions issued by OILSR staff personel which mandate a result contrary to that rendered by the Fourth District Court of Appeals in the Opinion from which the Petitioner has filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction. HUD has in fact promulgated rules pertaining to

the exemption which appear in 15 U.S.C. §1702 (a)(2). The rules were first promulgated in 1970 under 24 C.F.R. §1710.10 (c)(1970) and are identical to the statutory exemption which it administers. (A.87). The only substantive amendment thereto occurred in 1984 when the rule, which had been renumbered to §1710.5(b), added additional language with regard to presale clauses in the cases of condominium or multi-unit construction. (A.88). This additional verbiage is unrelated to the issue before this court. Aside therefrom the language was unchanged and continues to mirror that contained within 15 U.S.C. §1702 (a)(2).

Guidelines for Exemptions Available under the Interstate Land Sales Full Disclosure Act, 44 Fed. Reg. 24010 et. seq, effective June 11, 1979 hereinafter referred to as the "1979 Guidelines", the Guidelines for Exemptions Available under the Interstate Land Sales Full Disclosure Act, 49 Fed. Reg. 31375 et. seq, effective October 1, 1984, hereinafter referred to as the "1984 Guidelines" and the Avisory Opinions appended to its brief are inconsistent with the decision rendered below inasmuch as they merely require that the contract afford to the purchaser the remedy of specific performance to qualify for the improved lot exemption. It is Respondent's position herein as more particularly described in Argument II hereof that the Opinion rendered below wherein it

requires that the contract afford the purchaser the remedies of specific performance and damages is consistent with the 1984 Guidelines and with Advisory Opinions issued by OILSR and not erstwhile referenced by Petitioner. Assuming arguendo that the Guidelines and Advisory Opinions are inconsistent with the Fourth District's opinion herein, the HUD Guidelines and Advisory Opinions relied upon by Petitioner are not dispositive nor compulsory.

The 1979 Guidelines and 1984 Guidelines by their terms do not constitute substantive law. The following comment is contained within the Introduction to the 1979 Guidelines:

These are Guidelines, not substantive regulations. Not every conceivable factor of the exemption process is covered in these guidelines and variations may occur in unique situations. Examples are given, but the examples do not in any way exhaust the myriad of possibilities occurring in land development and land sales activity nor do they set absolute standards. (Emphasis supplied)

(A.20). A similar caveat is contained in the Introduction to the 1984 Guidelines. (A.34). The focus of Petitioner's first argument is that these Guidelines interpret the relevant exemption from ILSA and are binding upon the Court unless clearly erroneous. Petitioner's argument overlooks the fundamental premise that courts, not administrative agencies, have the ultimate responsibility for construing statutes. The "courts are the final authorities on issues of statutory construction...and 'are

not obliged to stand aside and rubber-stamp their affirmance of administrative decisions that they deem inconsistent with the statutory mandate or that frustrate the congressional policy underlying a statute.'" Volkswagenwerk v,Federal Maritime

Commission, 390 U.S. 261, 272 (1968); see, Federal Trade

Commission v,Colgate-Palmolive Co., 380 U.S. 374, 385 (1965);

National Labor Relations Board v. Brown, 380 U.S. 278, 290-292 (1965).

The first question to be answered when a court reviews an agency's construction of the statute which it administers is, of course, whether Congress has directly spoken to the precise question at issue. If Congress has clearly expressed an intent contrary to that of the agency a court is obligated to enforce the will of Congress. Chemical Manufacturers Association v. Natural Resources Defense Council, 470 U.S. 116, 125 (1985); Fleetwood Enterprises v. HUD, 818 F. 2d 1188, 1193 (5th Cir. 1987). If a court determines that Congress has not directly addressed the precise questions at issue or the statute is silent or ambiguous with respect to this specific issue, the question is whether the agency interpretation has a reasonable basis in law. Id.; National Labor Relations Board v. Hearst Publications, 322 U.S. 111, 130-132 (1944); and Unemployment Compensation Commission of the Territory of Alaska v. Aragon, 329 U.S. 143, 153-54 (1946). Accordingly, where the agency's

interpretation has a reasonable basis in law the court will defer to it. An important factor to be considered in giving weight to an administrative interpretation is if "...'the thoroughness evident in its consideration, the validity of its reasoning, is consistency with earlier and later pronouncements, and all those factors which give it power to persuade, if lacking power to control. " Securities and Exchange Commission v. Sloan, 436 U.S. 103, 117-118 (1978), quoting from Adamo Wrecking Co., v. United States, 434 U.S. 275, 287 n.5 (1978).

Petitioner has in addition to the Guidelines placed great weight upon the Advisory Opinions issued by OILSR which are appended its Initial Brief. The analysis of same is similar but not identical to that to be given to other agency interpreta-These Opinions are unofficial and not binding upon the tions. Adiel v. Chase Federal Savings and Loan Association, 586 Court. F. Supp 866, 868 (D.Ct S.D. FL., Miami Div 1984); Charles v. Krauss Company, Limited, 572 F.2d 544, 547-548 (5th Cir. 1978). If the letters do not contradict one another and are consistent with the act's intent and they are reasonable, a court may look However, staff opinion letters are to them for guidance. Id. less authoritative then formal interpretations and have been disregarded when they conflict with other staff opinion letters. See, Pollock v. General Finance Corporation, 552 F.2d 1142, 1144-1145 (5th Cir. 1977).

In terms of the foregoing analysis the only expression of Congressional intent as to the "improved lot" exemption is that contained within the clear language of the statute wherein it states "...the sale or lease of land under a contract obligating the seller or lessor to erect such a building thereon within a period of two years;" (Emphasis supplied) The statute itself does not specifically delineate the remedies required to come within its terms. If we assume therefore that the statutory language is ambiguous, we must in conjunction with the inquiry into HUD's interpretation determine whether same is supported by the overall statutory intent, policy and legislative history. See, Ford Motor Credit Company v. Milhollin, 444 U.S. 554, 568 (1980); Markair, Inc. v. Civil Aeronautics Board, 744 F.2d 1383, 1385 (9th Cir. 1984); Nepera Chemical, Inc. v. Federal Maratime Commission, 662 F.2d 18, 21-22 (D.C. Cir. 1981). It is clear that the underlying intent of ILSA was to protect consumers through disclosure. The introductory paragraph contained in the publication issued by HUD, Buying Lots from Developers states in pertinent part as follows:

"Caveat Emptor" warned the early Romans in the marketplace... "let the buyer beware!" This is good advise. The Department of Housing and Urban Development's Office of Interstate Land Sales Registration (OILSR) seeks full disclosure of facts consumers need to make prudent decisions when they buy land through interstate land sales..."

(Appendix to Petitioners Brief at A.74).

The congressional hearings conducted before the Senate evidence that ILSA was intended to offer protection to buyers through disclosure which would enable consumers "...to make sound business judgments" (A. 101). ILSA was patterned after the full disclosure principal established by the Securities Act of 1933. (A.90).

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